THE ROLE OF OPEN-AIR CALVARIES IN THE CONTEXT OF LANDSCAPE HERITAGE PROTECTION OF THE EASTERN SUDETES

Janusz LACH
Department of Regional Geography and Tourism, Institute of Geography and Regional Development Wroclaw University, Wroclaw, Poland, e-mail: janusz.lach@uwr.edu.pl

Aneta MAREK
Department of Regional Geography and Tourism, Institute of Geography and Regional Development Wroclaw University, Wroclaw, Poland, e-mail: aneta.marek@uwr.edu.pl

Abstract: The article concerns the meaning and landscape functions of Small Calvaries located in the Eastern Sudetes in the border area of the Czech Republic and Poland. The publication aims to indicate the main typological features of this type of calvary, taking into account the current behaviour of residents having a common sarcastic heritage. Due to the subject, interdisciplinary research was undertaken in the direction of valorization as well as environmental interviews. The use of geosociological methodology made it possible to assess the landscape in terms of its contemporary functions and potential threats. The research allowed us to distinguish two types of landscape layouts: elliptical and linear of a historical nature, and modern, mainly linear. Sociological research showed the attitude of local communities to the sacred heritage in the Eastern Sudetes.

Keywords: Europe, the Eastern Sudetes, sacral landscape, little calvaries

INTRODUCTION

Calvaries, or groups of churches or chapels symbolising the stations of the Passion, were usually founded on hills to resemble Golgotha for crucifixion. This path is further enriched by stages such as the Cenacle, the Garden of Olives, the capture, the Ascension and Pentecost. The first Calvary was established in Córdoba, Spain, in 1405, followed by Italy and Germany at the end of the 15th century. Today, there are around 708 calvaries of various types in Europe, ranging from Great Calvaries, through Little Calvaries known as open-air calvaries, with their elaborate symbolism and sophisticated artistic expression, alluding to a folk (local) style, were often erected as votive offerings for favours received, becoming witnesses to the history of the local community. Due to their religious importance of 'untouchability', they became guardians of the past - connecting the landscapes of distant and contemporary times, defining this little-known European cultural heritage.

It is the Little Calvaries, therefore, that have become the focus of this article in a landscape-cultural context in order to protect these unique, distinctive architectural and landscape settings in the European territory. Little Calvaries from the area of the Polish part of the Eastern Sudetes, an area of exceptional dynamics of historical, cultural, social and religious changes occurring during the 16th - 20th centuries, was selected as a case study (Figure 1).

Centuries-old processes of urbanisation, industrialisation and agricultural intensification changed the landscape structure of the region, which was resisted only by enclaves of sacral landscapes as sacred "untouchable" sites. These landscapes, through the Landscape Convention adopted by the countries of the European Union in 2000, became the object of protection of the European natural and cultural heritage, contributing to the consolidation of European identity. Referring to the general principles of the Convention, a typology of landscapes for the area of Poland was developed in 2015 by Chmielewski et al. (2015) for the purpose of implementing landscape management policy. In this study, the Calvary landscapes, mainly those of the Great Calvaries, were classified as suburban and residential landscapes with the subtype of large-scale sacral complexes,
historically conditioned, constituting a forest-water-agricultural-settlement spatial composition without a clear definition of the landscape background. However, the aforementioned typology ignored the landscape essence of the Little Calvaries.

Figure 1. Location of the study area - location map of the Eastern Sudetes together with part of the Central Sudetes (Source: Rozenkiewicz and Lach, 2012)

The sacral landscape of the little calvaries of the Eastern Sudetes constitutes an interesting (niche) research theme, due to the nature of the religious-political-social-historical changes that took place during the 17th to 21st centuries. Given the numerous traces of human activity in the landscape of the Sudetes, it is worth noting that sacred buildings, including calvary buildings, are one of the dominant features of the mountain space. The undertaken research of landscape and cultural analyses on the preservation of unique calvary landscapes of the Polish part of the Eastern Sudetes requires from the authors a holistic research approach, i.e. determining the authenticity of individual components of the environment while preserving the specific features of the cultural landscape.

These components determine its unique character, making people identify with the essence of the place - the "genus loci". In the scientific literature, the Little Calvaries of the analysed area constitute a niche theme and are described rather rarely. So far, these sites have been the subject of interest of only a small number of landscape experts, while in the sphere of scientific research they remain a typical "terra incognita". The issue of calvarial complexes in the literature has been dealt with by Čičo (1992, 1998), Jackson and Henrie (1983), Liutikas (2015), Vaisvilaitė (2002). Among Polish researchers, the interpretation and definition of sacral vs. religious landscapes and their functions is still under discussion by Jackowski (1999), Mitkowska (2003), Myga-Piątek (2012) and Andrejczuk (2013).

AIMS

As a result of the conducted research, the authors set themselves the goal of supplementing the above typology of calvary landscapes in Poland and the Czech Republic in the cross-border zone, with the landscape type of open-air calvaries created outside or in close proximity to rural settlement units.

To achieve the goal, the authors set themselves several research tasks, including:
- carrying out an inventory and description of complexes of Calvary open-air museums in the Polish and Czech part of the Eastern Sudetes in terms of historical knowledge (review of source materials constituting a publication niche), architecture and art history, as well as geographical and landscape knowledge (morphological location, exposure of slopes, their coverage, number of objects included in the calvary complex). The inventory takes into account their state of preservation and their functions. The task is to identify the characteristic typological features of open-air calvary landscapes - the so-called small calvary of mountain areas through the analysis carried out using the methods of Sowińska (2012) and Myga-Piątek (2007)), modified to determine the identity and landscape values as well as sacral calvary in the open air (Figure 2);
- assessment of landscapes of small calvaries to identify possible cultural and social threats to their protection;
- defining the role of the local community in the implementation and monitoring of the landscape policy;
The Role of Open-Air Calvaries in the Context of Landscape Heritage Protection of the Eastern Sudetes

- determination of the state of implementation of the landscape policy of the European Landscape Convention by the administrative authorities of the areas where complexes of open-air calvaries are located, representing landscapes of cultural and historical value.

**METHODS**

Finally, it is considered important to attempt to develop a methodologically and tool-wise universal research toolkit that will enable similar work to be undertaken in the neighbouring regions of the Sudetes, including in the cross-border area. The following methods were important for the realisation of the research tasks: field survey of the Little Calvaries located in the Eastern Sudetes conducted in 2022 and 2023, which made it possible to obtain important documentary and descriptive information (topographic position of the founding of the complexes, land cover, historical information, state of preservation). For a more complete description, metrical documentation of the elements forming a given calvary complex was made, enriched with photographic documentation. The method of survey of sources and scientific materials concerning the research problem and the subject of the study was also applied (Figure 3).

To valorise the aesthetic, cognitive and spiritual values, a method of distinguishing tangible and intangible identifications of sacral landscapes, modified for the purposes of the research, was used, applied among others by Sowińska (2012) and Myga-Piątek (2007) based on a free-form community interview with visitors to the studied sites. In order to obtain data on the implementation of the principles of the European Landscape Convention by the administrative units of the study area, a targeted community interview was conducted with persons responsible for spatial management and observance of landscape policy in the district centres of Stronie Śląskie, Bystrzyca Kłodzka and Złoty Stok of the administrative area where the studied open-air calvaries are located.

**LITERATURE RESEARCH**

**Historical background of the foundation of open-air calvaries in the Kłodzko Land from the 17th to the 21st century**

The Eastern Sudetes region, as a physical-geographical unit, is historically assigned to the region known as the Kłodzko Land or Kłodzko County. The 16th century in Europe was a time of development and flourishing of the new Reformation currents initiated by Martin Luther (1483-1546). The preaching of the so-called "pure gospel" developed rapidly gaining adherents known as Protestants, who stood in opposition to the Roman Catholic denomination. The year 1524 was the date of the emergence of Protestantism in Lower Silesia, initiated by the von Dokna family living in Góra Śląska (Wiszewski, 2006). Protestantism appeared in the Kłodzko area seven years later in 1531 thanks to Jan von Bernstein, who pushed the Roman Catholic Church out of the region between 1531 and 1548. In the history of the Reformation period, an important episode was the Peace of Augsburg concluded in 1555, which stabilised religious life.
among others through the principle "cuius regio, eius religio", thanks to which the secular authorities could impose their religion on their subjects. For Protestants, this peace guaranteed freedom of worship within the authorities accepting the new religion, while Catholics were protected from the expansion of new faiths. The Habsburgs in charge of Lower Silesia in the 16th century - Ferdinand I Habsburg (1503-1564) and later his son Maximilian II (1527-1576) - initially applied a policy of moderate religious tolerance if it did not harm the foundations of the religious and social order. The result of such a policy was the fully peaceful Protestantisation of Silesia. Wiszewski (2006) estimates that in about 1570 almost 90% of the population opted for Lutheran teaching, which was observed in 1500 churches in the region.

This situation, however, began to change in the 1580s, when the Habsburgs began to build a state of strong imperial power supported by Catholicism. The attitude to the political direction taken was that 'Catholicism equals loyalty' whereas the followers of M. Luther were seen as potential rebels. This conviction became the basis for a complex current of change called confessionalisation, whose significant impetus for the approach became the findings of the Council of Trent (1545-1563). Relative tolerance was short-lived, because already in the 1590s the Klodzko region experienced recatholisation. The process of the return of the Catholic faith in the region was initiated by King Rudolf II (1552-1612), and its executors were the Jesuits residing in the college established in 1597 in Klodzko (Lec, 2020).

The Thirty Years' War (1618-1648) also had a negative impact on the religious situation in the Klodzko area. After its end, as a result of the Peace of Westphalia (1648), the Emperor of Austria had the right to take over the hereditary property of Protestant churches taken from Catholics in the 16th century. However, the process of taking over churches and the growing recatholisation movement had already begun earlier in 1621 under the so-called Dresden Accord. By virtue of it, the emperor undertook to treat the Protestant population more leniently and to allow freedom of Lutheran confession (Harasimowicz, 2010). An exceptional county that did not conform to the arrangements of the Dresden Peace was the County of Klodzko. Various repressive measures were applied against Protestants, Protestant clergy and teachers were expelled and their properties were confiscated forcing them to emigrate (Mazurski 1994-1996).

Between 1625 and 1626, almost the entire Protestant population of the Klodzko area was induced to adopt the Catholic faith. A significant role in the process of religious change was played by the Jesuits, who gathered around them numerous followers through enriching the liturgy with singing, organising concerts, enriching and beautifying churches with frescoes of biblical themes, sculptures of saints, and most importantly, in the process of convincing people to the religion with education. Education became an important element of social and religious life among the wealthy inhabitants. It was due to them, among others, that the founding of calvary complexes of the New Jerusalem type was initiated by, among others, Daniel Paschusiusz von Osterberg in 1683 in Wambierzyce.

In the following 18th and 19th centuries, foundations of little calvaries by wealthy landowners or parish priests residing in the Klodzko area took place. As a result of the Silesian Wars of 1740-1763, King Frederick II the Great took Silesia from Austria, and the County of Klodzko became part of the administrative boundaries of Silesia. Through Article 6 of the Berlin Peace Treaty, the Catholic denomination in the Klodzko County was granted inviolability, and ecclesiastical authority over the diocese was exercised by the Archbishop of Prague. The King of Prussia, on the other hand, undertook to maintain the status quo for the Catholic Church, preserving its possession status with regard to church buildings, the parish network and the existence of religious orders (Wąs, 2002).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS
Contemporary structure and function of "Little Calvaries" in the landscape of the Polish and Czech Eastern Sudetes

Of the many types of cultural landscape, the sacral landscape occupies an important place, encompassing a category of things and activities set apart by a particular community as sacred and therefore subject to religious veneration. The act of setting apart refers to the power of God and is intended to lead to the isolation of places dedicated for God for the purpose of worshipping him in order to evoke religious experiences (Jackowski et al., 1999). A landscape characterised by the presence in space of the sacred based on hierophany I or the manifestation of the sacred becomes the spirit of the place - genius loci (Park, 2003; Eliade, 2020). Sacral landscapes constitute a unique identity of place, infused with the spirit of place are mostly rooted in a non-material dimension, yet often combined with symbolism. However, the influence of the religion professed by a given society (civilisation) through material goods sets its spatial boundaries (Holly, 2014).

Sacral landscapes, especially outdoor ones, are an expression of the harmonious relationship between content and form against a natural background. Nowadays, however, they are subjected to increasing pressure to abandon them, but also to renew them often without preserving their historical-architectural context, introducing disharmonious elements not directly related to the Calvary content, e.g. Lourdes grottoes, sculptures of contemporary saints. Modern reconstructions of ancient sacral landscapes seek to define and enrich the unique heritage of the region shaped over the centuries by successive national, ethnic or religious changes, and now by the emerging identity and sense of a 'Little Homeland' among local people. Each object of worship located in a specific natural and cultural space is the basis defining the identity of a place as a human-determined landscape interior (Myczkowski, 2009). In the Christian tradition, the harmonious landscape of a calvary is the result of a centuries-old tradition of managing and transforming the environment, and is treated as human's participation in the work of creation (Plit, 2012). The elements conditioning the location of a calvary and thus defining its boundaries in a specific place are: the nature of the environment, historical, socio-economic conditions, cultural and architectural traditions, system of beliefs and rituals. According to 1 According to Eliade (2020), hierophany confronts us with a historical document by manifesting itself in a specific historical situation through symbols (in relation to hierophanies defined as coherence). The function of the symbol is of exceptional importance for the magico-religious human experience.

492
Mitkowska (2003), the topography of a place played an overriding role in the location of a calvary. It often favoured the creation of a spontaneous Jerusalem landscape area. Pilgrimage stations and prayer routes were created with the participation of wealthy founders, following the example of the largest European calvaries. In the process of calvary locating in the natural-cultural landscape, according to Andrejczuk (2013), the boundaries are determined to a large extent by the function or function spectrum of intentional human activities.

This landscape is a natural and anthropogenic system, the main component of which is nature with its elements of the natural environment and the man. It is the human being who is responsible for the character of the functions depending on the objectives he or she sets for the landscape. The research problem undertaken is based on the ten functions of landscape analysis of Little Calvary presented by Andrejczuk (2013) paying attention to: spatial function, i.e. the provision of space, cognitive function, which enables education and development of man expanding their horizons of knowledge about humankind, the environment and relationships, sacramental function, which satisfies needs of a higher order (spiritual) and aesthetic function, which provides aesthetic sensations and experiences necessary for their spiritual and moral development.

The word calvary refers to a complex of churches and chapels symbolising the successive stages of Christ’s Passion. It defines the spatial arrangement of religious buildings in such a way that they can fulfil the function of a copy of Jerusalem, i.e. the place associated with the Passion and death of Jesus Christ. The creation of ideal copies of the Jerusalem landscape was typical of the period from the 15th to the 18th century, when Great Calvaries of the New Jerusalem type were created (Bilska-Wodecka, 2003). In the Middle Ages, magnates who made a pilgrimage to the Holy Land often erected chapels in their estates, referring to the Jerusalem prototypes, with the approval of the church or monastery authorities. Most of the believers could not afford to make the trip to Jerusalem, and so visiting the so-called ‘sham’ path of the Passion became an alternative to obtaining religious indulements. In the following centuries, this symbolism began to lose its significance through, among other things, the architectural and landscape form manifested in the erection of a more modest, open-air Stations of the Cross, the so-called Little Calvary, usually consisting of 14 elements (Bilska-Wodecka, 2003).

The open-air Little Calvaries, symbolising the Stations of the Cross of Jesus Christ, in the area of the Polish part of the Eastern Sudetes are represented by 9 complexes with diverse locational, architectural and compositional features, determining religious and pilgrimage identity, as well as sensory and emotional identity, placed against a forest, meadow and settlement landscape (Table 1).

Table 1. Typological features defining landscape and sacral identity of Little Calvaries in the area of Eastern Sudetes
(Source: own study based on field research using the method of Sowińska, 2012)

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>LP</th>
<th>Location</th>
<th>Region</th>
<th>Natural context</th>
<th>Historical context</th>
<th>Architectural form and composition</th>
<th>Religious form of use</th>
<th>State of preservation</th>
<th>Legibility and openness</th>
<th>Uniformity</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>1.</td>
<td>Młynówiec</td>
<td>Góry Bialskie (Rychlebské-Zlote Mountains)</td>
<td>S-W slopes of Gologór 997 m, heights 630-700 m, along the Młynówka stream. The area is covered with coniferous forests. 50.277203⁰N 16.909185⁰E</td>
<td>14 concrete crosses, diameter 47 cm by 90, on a sandstone pedestal 46x47x23 cm. The numbers of the Stations of the Cross are carved on the crosses.</td>
<td>No</td>
<td>Bad</td>
<td>Low degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form.</td>
<td>Structural, architectural, colour uniformity of Stations of the Cross maintained.</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>2.</td>
<td>Bolesławów „Suszyca”</td>
<td>Góry Bialskie (Rychlebské-Zlote Mountains)</td>
<td>S-W slope of Suszyca at altitude 720-800 m. Valley of an unnamed stream (initial valley - episodically drained). The area is covered by mixed forest. 50.248437⁰N 16.904624⁰E</td>
<td>19th/20th century. A votive offering by a resident of Bolesławów for the return of his sons from the First World War.</td>
<td>Yes</td>
<td>Very good</td>
<td>High degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form.</td>
<td>Structural, architectural, graphic, colour uniformity of the Stations of the Cross maintained.</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>3.</td>
<td>Stary Gierałtów</td>
<td>Góry Złote (Rychlebské-Zlote Mountains)</td>
<td>S slopes of Szewczyk 753 m and SW slopes of Czernik 832 m. The area is covered by mixed forest. 50.303948⁰N 16.966044⁰E</td>
<td>New Stations of the Cross since 2007.</td>
<td>Yes</td>
<td>Very good</td>
<td>High degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Forest and meadow complex does not limit openness of form.</td>
<td>Structural, architectural, colour uniformity of Stations of the Cross maintained.</td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>No.</td>
<td>Location</td>
<td>Region</td>
<td>Elevation</td>
<td>Vegetation</td>
<td>Year</td>
<td>Author</td>
<td>Note</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>-----</td>
<td>----------</td>
<td>--------</td>
<td>-----------</td>
<td>------------</td>
<td>------</td>
<td>--------</td>
<td>------</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>4.</td>
<td>Bolesław &quot;Ogrójec&quot;</td>
<td>Żywiec</td>
<td>778 m</td>
<td>Mixed forest</td>
<td>1833</td>
<td>Unknown</td>
<td>Yes, very good, structural, architectural, colour uniformity of Stations of the Cross maintained.</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>5.</td>
<td>Radochów &quot;Ciemniak&quot;</td>
<td>Żywiec</td>
<td>591 m</td>
<td>Mixed forest</td>
<td>1836</td>
<td>Wachsmann</td>
<td>Yes, very good, high degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form.</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>6.</td>
<td>Złoty Stok</td>
<td>Żywiec</td>
<td>489 m</td>
<td>Mixed forest</td>
<td>1856</td>
<td>Sigmund Kahler, 1792/ Maria Schramm</td>
<td>Yes, Good, high degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form.</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>7.</td>
<td>Stary Waliszów</td>
<td>Żywiec</td>
<td>508 m</td>
<td>Mixed forest</td>
<td>1736</td>
<td>Count von Oppersdorff</td>
<td>Yes, Good, high degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form.</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>8.</td>
<td>Międzygorze &quot;Maria Śnieżna&quot;</td>
<td>Świdnica</td>
<td>485 m</td>
<td>Mixed forest</td>
<td>1781</td>
<td></td>
<td>Yes, Very good, structural, architectural, colour uniformity of Stations of the Cross maintained.</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>9.</td>
<td>Marianówka</td>
<td>Świdnica</td>
<td>750 m</td>
<td>Mixed forest</td>
<td>2009</td>
<td></td>
<td>Yes, very good, high degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form.</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>10.</td>
<td>Travna</td>
<td>Świdnica</td>
<td>500 m</td>
<td>Mixed forest</td>
<td>1894</td>
<td></td>
<td>Yes, Very good, high degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form.</td>
<td></td>
<td></td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>
The Role of Open-Air Calvaries in the Context of Landscape Heritage Protection of the Eastern Sudetes

|   | Stribrnice Masyw Śnieżnika (The Śnieżnik Massif) | S. E slopes of Dzięczy Grzbiet 750 m. The area is covered by mixed forest. 50.1838888N 16.8987322E | 1887 | There were 14 brick stations in the form of chapels. | No | Bad | Low degree of expressiveness of the space allowing it to be defined. Dense tree cover limits openness of form. | Structural, architectural, colour uniformity of Stations of the Cross maintained. |
|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| 11. | Photo K Figure 4 | | | | | | |

The identification of diagnostic features for the Little Calvaries on the basis of a field survey and a source materials research allowed for a typological historical-architectural-landscape analysis. All sites were built between 1736 and 2009, most of them as thanksgiving votive offerings of local leaders, i.e. wealthy landowners or priests. Four cases out of nine have relevant documents. The calvaries were located outside the boundary of the built-up area, in the mountainous terrain of the following mountain ranges: the Rychlebsko-Zlote Mountains band the Śnieżnik Massif (three sites per each), at altitudes ranging from 500 to 845 m above sea level.

What draws attention is the exposure of the sites, which were built mainly on south-western and southern slopes (which accounts for 67%), less frequently on north-eastern slopes (33%). The consideration of SW and S exposure may have been important due to the length of time the slope was illuminated and heated, allowing the snow cover to melt more quickly, especially during the Easter (early spring) period - this applies mainly to the youngest calvaries. On the other hand, the location of the calvaries in Radochów or Międzygórze, the oldest complexes was conditioned by the theological assumptions, i.e. the orientation of the complexes eastwards - towards Jerusalem (Figure 5).

Landscape background for the calvaries is spruce forests or mixed forests. Exceptions are the "Ogrójecz" (Garden of Olives) calvary in Bolesławów and in Stary and Nowy Gierałtów, where the background is forest-meadow complexes.

Figure 5. Location of Little Calvaries in the area of the Polish and Czech (cross-border zone) Eastern Sudetes (Source: own study)

Figure 6. Radochów Cierniak - example of closed (elliptical) arrangements of open-air calvaries. Visible brick edicules located around the Chapel of Our Lady Help of the Faithful

Figure 7. The Chapel of the Holy Cross with the surrounding Stations of the Cross on Hill of the Cross (Source: Authors)
Due to the dense ground cover, this woodland limits the openness of the form giving an impression of neglect, but also a unique mysticism. Stone was the most commonly used building material. Sandstone, a raw material commonly found in the Sudetes, was used for the construction of four structures. Wood was used for the construction of three calvaries: in Marianówka, Bolesławów "Suszyca" and Stary and Nowy Gierałtów, while only in one case in Radochów was brick used. The compositional layout of the discussed objects is varied. Most often it takes the form of linear sequences e.g. in: Marianówka, Stary and Nowy Gierałtów, in Miedzygórze on Igliczna, on Młynowiec on Travna or on Stribrnice, but there are also forms taking the shape of an ellipse, e.g. in Radochów (Figure 6), Bolesławów "Suszyca", Stary Waliszów or Złoty Stok. Among the architectural forms of the analysed objects we can distinguish crosses and edicules, the latter being characteristic for Złoty Stok, Radochów and Marianówka, churches in Miedzygórze, Stary and Nowy Gierałtów (from which the Stations of the Cross begin and end), chapels in Radochów, Stary Waliszów (Figure 7), grottoes of Our Lady of Lourdes in Bolesławów "Suszyca" (Figure 8), Radochów and Travna. The architectural form of stone or wooden crosses is further complemented by stone reliefs in Miedzygórze or paintings in Stary Waliszów, Bolesławów "Suszyca", Stary and Nowy Gierałtów. The most recent architectural form of the Stations of the Cross, is represented by the wooden "edicules" - chapels with reliefs in Marianówka (Figure 4I). The architectural form is typical of Little Calvaries, which presents the content of the Passion in a simple way. All objects represent purity and legibility of form.

Another distinctive feature of the material identity of the sacral landscapes of the Little Calvaries of the Sudetes is the religious and historical-social context, which refers to the counter-reformation movement that influenced the religiousness of the area's inhabitants with the help of the Jesuits between the 17th and 19th centuries. Nowadays, the Roman Catholic parishes, or more precisely the inhabitants themselves, gathered around the resident priest, are responsible for the state of preservation and religious functions. The sites are still places for meditating on the Passion of Christ in the vicinity of the natural landscape, emphasising the spiritual aspect. All the sites analysed have a sacral function although the state of preservation varies. The best preserved calvaries are located in Miedzygórze, Marianówka, Radochów, Bolesławów "Suszyca" and "Ogrójec" and Złoty Stok. Neglected Stations of the Cross can be seen in Młynowiec and Stribrnice. Unfortunately, not all objects represent the completeness of the original structure.

An example of a damaged calvary is Bolesławów "Ogrójec". There, only three crosses are visible, which lead to the prayer complex in the Garden of Olives. Most of the sites show no disintegrating elements in the space, with the exceptions of the sites in Bolesławów, Radochów and Miedzygórze, where other religious contents such as grottoes of the Virgin Mary or sculptures of saints have been added to the calvary complexes. The calvaries retain their integrity of style, form, colour and the materials from which they are made (an exception may be the Stations of the Cross at Młynowiec, where the missing, former stone crosses have been replaced with concrete ones).

In the landscape of the Eastern Sudetes, only one calvary represents spatial extensiveness. It is the Stations of the Cross, which connects the two villages of Stary Gierałtów and Nowy Gierałtów over a distance of approximately 4 km (Figure 9). The other calvaries represent openness within sight. In the case of the damaged calvary in Bolesławów, there are no clear and sharp boundaries for the establishment of the form, apart from the Prayer of the Garden of Olives.

In addition to material distinctions, it is worth noting the subject of non-material distinctions, which also played a significant role in the formation of sacral landscapes. The establishment of complexes of little calvaries was largely due to the various events faced by the inhabitants of neighbouring villages. Most calvaries, therefore, were ex vota, being thanksgivings for graces received or healing from illness. An example of such a calvary is the complex in Rachochów, Stary Waliszów or Bolesław "Suszyca". Calvaries were founded in places where a shrine (chapel, church) had previously been established, so they are directly connected with the particular pilgrimage site, raising their profile (Radochów, Maria Śnieżna, Złoty Stok, Travna). Another distinctive feature of the choice of place and name of the calvary may be the neighbourhood of a monastery (Marianówka), where a monastery was founded by the Salesian fathers. Non-material

---

2 Edicule - a chapel with a pediment supported by columns or a niche providing a backdrop for a sculpture, bas-relief or painted image
distinguishing features can also be found in the form of multisensoriality, which consists of touch and, in the case of five sites, the sound coming from church bells (Międzygórze, Stary Gierałtów, Nowy Gierałtów) or the ridge turret bells of the chapels of Radochów and Stary Waliszów. All the sites are thought-provoking and mysterious, allowing the spiritual experience of the mysteries of Christ’s Paschal Mystery.

**Evaluation discussion of Little Calvaries in the context of the protection of calvary landscapes**

It is a difficult social process to implement new principles of landscape management. This is especially the case in post-communist countries, where there was a predetermined policy of the central state administration, often not in line with environmental considerations. The interviews conducted in the local government units of the study area clearly show that knowledge about the European Landscape Convention is treated marginally. Cooperation with scientific institutions, representing fields such as history, archaeology, cultural studies, theology or geography, to describe and assess the landscape is not undertaken. This explains the lack of any documentation of monuments, but also of basic knowledge about the history and revitalisation processes of sites. The units cooperate with the Provincial Conservator of Monuments, but only to a certain extent. However, it is possible to notice cases of cooperation of local communities in the revitalisation and maintenance of cultural heritage objects.

Table 2. Criteria for assessing the landscape of the Little Calvaries for the purpose of determining their current functions and potential threats (Source: Own study based on field research using the method of Myga-Piątek (2007) modified for the needs and specificity of the research subject)

<table>
<thead>
<tr>
<th>Location</th>
<th>Age</th>
<th>Historicity</th>
<th>Aesthetic value</th>
<th>Harmony</th>
<th>Content</th>
<th>Uniqueness</th>
<th>Emotional value</th>
<th>Utility value</th>
<th>Multisensoriality</th>
<th>Sum of points</th>
</tr>
</thead>
<tbody>
<tr>
<td>Młynowiec</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>10</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Bolesławów (Suszyca)</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>16</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Bolesławów „Ogroje”</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>17</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Stary i Nowy Gierałtów</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>12</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Radochów „Ciemnik”</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>21</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Złoty Stok</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>19</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Stary Waliszów</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>18</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Międzygórze „Maria Śnieżna”</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>24</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Marianówka</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>13</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Travna</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>3</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>15</td>
</tr>
<tr>
<td>Striżnica</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>2</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>1</td>
<td>11</td>
</tr>
</tbody>
</table>

*Scale of grade*  
3 points - landscapes used in accordance with their traditional function, definitely not subject to changes in function and architectural and landscape forms  
2 points - landscapes used according to their traditional function, potentially exposed to changes in functions and architectural and landscape forms  
1 point - landscapes "to be forgotten" due to lack of protection, functions and architectural-landscape forms disappear  
3 points - touch, sound, smell  
2 points - touch, sound  
1 point - touch
These are sometimes the initiatives of associations (e.g. the Association of Friends of the Biała Łądecka Valley "Kruszyńka") and village administrations (e.g. the administrator of the village of Kamienica, Ms. Irena Foremnik) for mutual cooperation. This cooperation is aimed at protecting the sacral heritage often found in the area. Information boards and printed materials such as brochures and leaflets are produced on the initiative of local communities.

In order to identify the subject matter in more detail, an assessment of the landscape of little calvaries was made based on nine criteria. For the purposes of determining current functions and potential threats, age, historicity, aesthetic value, harmony, content, uniqueness, emotional value, utility value, multisensoriality and the number of objects in each complex were considered (Table 2). Six of the sites represent more than 100 years of history, translating into a richer architectural and landscape form. Three of the analysed buildings date to the 20th century.

**Historicity** - the most valuable calvary landscape in the study area, in which historical events of regional scale and importance have been recorded, is the calvary in Międzygórze. An important event affecting the rank was the annexation of Kłodzko County to Prussia in 1742, which was associated with significant geopolitical and religious changes.

A new Prussian law restricted Catholic worshippers from making pilgrimages to, among other places, Marizell in Austria. In order to solve the problem, in 1750 the village resident of Wilkanów, Krzysztof Veit, brought a folk copy of the statue of Our Lady of Marizell, made of linden wood. The statue started a pilgrimage movement to the small chapel on Góra Igliczna in Międzygórze, where in 1781 the foundation stone of the emerging sanctuary of Our Lady of the Cause of Our Joy "Maria Śnieżna" was laid. At present, the sanctuary on Mount Igliczna is an important pilgrimage site for the inhabitants of the region, the country and pilgrims from abroad. The other Calvary complexes represent landscapes in which historical events have not been recorded and are not associated with such events.

However, they were created in the historical environment of the experiences of local people who, feeling the need to thank God, erected Stations of the Cross as votive offerings.

**Emotional value** - with two objects having the status of a shrine, the local community has close emotional ties due to the rank and functions of a unique, sacred place. These objects are the sanctuary of Our Lady Cause of Our Joy "Maria Śnieżna" in Międzygórze, with year-round national and international pilgrimage traffic, and the sanctuary of Our Lady Help of the Faithful in Radochów with predominant local pilgrimage traffic. The emotional value of the last site, which lends real mysticism, is the figure, the only one in the Sudetic range, of the hermit Brother Elisha, standing over the spiritual and physical transmission of the religious character.

With regard to **emotional and social values** concerning selected social and age groups, this criterion is fulfilled by Marianówka and the Salesian monastery located there. These monks influenced the pilgrimage movement and participation in the Stations of the Cross by conducting targeted spiritual retreats. The remaining sites involve parish communities and scored 2 points of emotional value. The only site that the local community currently does not identify with the tradition of the place and does not care about the condition of the space is Młynowiec and Stribrnice, which is due to the depopulation of the place.

**Utility value** - due to the historical-architectural context and emotional value, 90% of the little calvary complexes are used in accordance with their religious function (whether the most recognisable ones are listed in the register - if so, they are legally protected from changes, others may be altered in form by local custodians). An exception is the Little Calvary in Młynowiec and Stribrnice, where there are traces of a lack of interest in ceremonial use.

**Uniqueness** is an important criterion for determining the direction of preservation of the sites in the perspective of the next decades. The calvary complexes of the Eastern Sudetes in the architectural and landscape context are mainly characterised by folk content. Higher-ranking content referring to historical stylistic trends, e.g. baroque, is exhibited by the complexes in Międzygórze and Stary Waliszów, which additionally, due to their high religious rank, constitute a specific "genius loci". The uniqueness of the content can still be observed in the Calvary complex in Radochów, through the characteristic architecture of the Stations of the Cross in the form ofedicules, chapels or foundation steps leading to the Calvary hill Cierniak, where the names of former (German) benefactors are inscribed.

The uniqueness of the place is largely attributable to harmony, i.e. compositional congruity that allows one to feel order and spatial arrangement. Of the surveyed complexes, all show full landscape-architectural compatibility with the spirit of the place, which is influenced by the morphological naturalness together with the forest-meadow cover, and also through the senses, mainly touch, allow one to feel the spirit of the place.

**CONCLUSIONS**

Little calvaries or open-air calvaries are counted among sacred places (sacrum), as they are characterised by the existence of a rich symbolism of the material and non-material sphere, creating a unique atmosphere of the place - "genius loci" increasing its value in the religious, cultural, but often also artistic context.

These calvaries were founded in the local landscape, trying to approximate to the topographical original of Jerusalem (holy mountain - holy hill). Stations of the Cross - Little Calvaries - were erected to provide pilgrims with indulgences rather than aesthetic experiences, hence the apparent architectural and symbolic modesty. The little calvaries were intended to be places for meditating on the Passion of Christ, but also for enacting Passion stories. Due to their location in the mountain landscape, they could replace pilgrimages to the Holy Land. The sites made use of both natural and anthropogenic elements, creating diverse landscape compositions saturated with symbolism (Figure 8).
The observations allow us to distinguish two main systems - elliptical and linear, from which linear with a small spatial extension (A) and linear with a significant spatial extension (B) were further separated. Linear layout A is characterised by the existence of a church at the beginning of the calvary (the exception is represented by Młynowiec, where there is no building) and a bi-directional path with crosses in the forest environment. This layout should be associated with the period of creation from the 18th to the 20th century (Międzygórze, Bolesławów). On the other hand, linear layout B is characterised by a bi-directional path starting and ending with churches. It represents a new layout created in the 21st century with forests, grasslands and arable fields as its background. This landscape type is represented by the calvary in Stary and Nowy Gierałtów. The elliptical landscape layout in the study area is characterised by a cylindrical arrangement of mainly edicules, with a chapel in the middle. This arrangement, found in Radochów, Stary Waliszów and Złoty Stok, creates a closed form with forests as its background.

Figure 10. The three prevailing landscape systems of the Little calvaries for the Eastern Sudetes region: A - elliptical, B - linear (former) representing low spatial extension, C - linear (modern) representing high spatial extension. Own study

The analysis of the sacral landscapes of the little calvaries was carried out in the real (material) current, which consisted in locating the objects in mountain and forest landscapes, and in the aesthetic current, where the originality of the composition's assumptions against the background of nature was combined.

Field research made it possible to estimate nine Little Calvaries in the Eastern Sudetes. It is noteworthy that despite the political, national and religious changes that took place after 1945, the Little Calvaries of the Eastern Sudetes are still visible in the field and are a great testimony to the religiosity of the region's inhabitants. An analysis of the symbolic, architectural meanings and site topography of the studied calvaries in a natural and spatial context provides a substructure for the identity of the site with local heritage. The calvaries in question have the potential to further develop the pilgrimage movement, but also to develop cognitive tourism. The value of the above research is the reference to the typology of Chmielewski et al. (2015), as they complement the typology of sacred landscapes taking into account open-air calvaries referred to as Little Calvaries. These calvaries represent a rural landscape type with a subtype of small-scale sacred ensemble historically and culturally conditioned with a region with a specific forest-agricultural landscape background, which is currently the quasinatural mountain landscape of the Eastern Sudetes.

The above conclusions regarding the existence of the unique landscape sacral complexes of the Little calvaries in the Sudetic area, in the context of the role of the local society in the implementation and monitoring of the landscape policy, are no longer so obvious. The state of implementation of the landscape policy, based on the European Landscape Convention, by the administrative authorities of the study area is substantively weak.

Despite the knowledge of the existence of open-air calvaries, which are culturally and historically valuable landscapes, caring for them is mainly in the hands of parishioners, village leaders e.g. village administrators, parish priests or local associations. Their activities, although valuable because they come from a sense of "heart", can, without a substantive basis and tools, pose a threat to the preservation of their authenticity.
The Role of Open-Air Calvaries in the Context of Landscape Heritage Protection of the Eastern Sudetes

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.L. and A.M.; methodology, J.L. and A.M.; software, J.L. and A.M.; validation, J.L. and A.M.; formal analysis, J.L. and A.M.; investigation, J.L. and A.M.; data curation, J.L. and A.M.; writing - original draft preparation, J.L. and A.M.; writing - review and editing, J.L. and A.M.; visualization, J.L. and A.M.; supervision, J.L. and A.M.; project administration, J.L. and A.M. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: Praca naukowa dofinansowana ze środków budżetu państwa w ramach programu Ministra Edukacji i Nauki pod nazwą „Nauka dla Społeczeństwa” nr projektu NdS/544299/2021/2021 kwota dofinansowania 347 231,00 całkowita wartość projektu 357 231,00.

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study may be obtained on request from the corresponding author.

Acknowledgments: The research undertaken was made possible by the equal scientific involvement of all the authors concerned.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES


Harasimowicz, J. (2010). Reformation in Silesia from the perspective of the history of religion and art history, Quart 4 (18), 3-16.


Article history: Received: 29.01.2024 Revised: 29.03.2024 Accepted: 18.04.2024 Available online: 18.05.2024